NILS CORDES, STEPHANIE HEHLGANS, and IRIS EKE

CONTENTS

5.1	Introduction 94
5.2	Extracellular Matrix, Cell-Matrix Interactions, and Cell-Cell Interactions 95
5.2.1	Extracellular Matrix 95
5.2.1.1	Proteoglycan Components 95
5.2.1.2	Hyaluronic Acid 95
5.2.1.3	Fibronectin 96
5.2.1.4	Collagen 96
5.2.1.5	Laminin 96
5.2.1.6	Elastin 96
5.2.2	Cell-Matrix Interactions 96
5.2.3	Cell-Cell Interactions 98
5.3	Cell Adhesion Molecules 99
5.5.1	Cadharina 101
5.3.2	Lammunoglobulin Superfamily 101
5.3.5	Selecting 102
5.5.4	
5.4	Integrin Signaling Molecules 102
5.5	Matrix Metalloproteinases 105
5.6	Migration and Metastasis 106
5.7	Radiation and Chemoresistance of Tumor Cells Through Cell-Matrix Interactions 107
5.8	Summary and Perspective 109
	References 110

S. Hehlgans, PhD

OncoRay-Center for Radiation Research in Oncology, Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus, Dresden University of Technology, Fetscherstraße 74, 01307 Dresden, Germany

Ι. Εκε, ΜD

OncoRay-Center for Radiation Research in Oncology, Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus, Dresden University of Technology, Fetscherstraße 74, 01307 Dresden, Germany

KEY POINTS

- A precise and concerted interplay between both the cellular components, i.e., the cells and their mutations, and the acellular components, i.e., the tumor microenvironment, drives tumor growth and spread beyond physiological boundaries as well as promotes cellular resistance to conventional radiotherapy and chemotherapy.
- One of the prominent microenvironmental modulators of the sensitivity of tumor tissue and tumor-associated normal tissue to therapy is the interaction of cells with the extracellular matrix. Besides serving as structural support for the cells in a tissue, the extracellular matrix participates in the regulation of essential cell functions such as survival, proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, and migration.
- Adhesion and invasion are controlled by integrin receptors and are frequently dysregulated in cancer, with disastrous consequences such as local destruction of normal tissue, metastases, and ineffective local tumor control by anticancer therapeutics. Particularly compromised local tumor control evolves from the combination of genetic alterations and changes in the tumor microenvironment.
- Integrins and their associated signaling molecules are attractive target molecules to be inhibited by pharmacological small molecules aiming at optimization of conventional radioand chemotherapy.
- Unraveling the intra- and extracellular networks a tumor cell exploits for its growth and spreading capability in more depth may foster the diagnosis of early-stage cancer, the development of novel drugs, and eventually improved patient survival.

N. Cordes, MD, PhD

OncoRay-Center for Radiation Research in Oncology, Medical Faculty Carl Gustav Carus, Dresden University of Technology, Fetscherstraße 74, 01307 Dresden, Germany

Abstract

The importance of the tumor microenvironment for tumor development and progression becomes increasingly evident. A precise and concerted interplay between both the cellular components, i.e., the cells and their mutations, and the acellular components, i.e., the tumor microenvironment, drives tumor growth and spread beyond physiological boundaries as well as promotes cellular resistance to conventional radiotherapy and chemotherapy. One of the prominent microenvironmental modulators of the sensitivity of tumor tissue and tumor-associated normal tissue to therapy is the interaction of cells with the extracellular matrix. Besides serving as structural support for the cells in a tissue, the extracellular matrix participates in the regulation of essential cell functions such as survival, proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, and migration. In this chapter, the overarching function of the tumor-related extracellular matrix is depicted and summarized with regard to the molecular, pathophysiological, and radiobiological aspects associated with tumor biology, radiation, and chemoresistance in the context of cell adhesion molecule families, their interactions with other types of cell surface receptors, and the downstream network of signal transducers.

5.1

Introduction

A large body of evidence illustrates the complexity of tumor biology on both a cellular and an acellular level. Examples for cellular factors are the variety of genetic gain-of-function or loss-of-function mutations in key molecules involved in proliferation, multidrug resistance, and apoptosis, which are concertedly responsible for the commonly recognized "hallmarks of cancer" (CROCE 2008; HALAZONETIS et al. 2008; VARMUS et al. 2005).

Beyond these cellular factors, the acellular elements complementing the tumor as complex, autonomous tissues are increasingly identified as critical and potent carcinogenic promoters and modulators of tumor cell sensitivity to conventional radiation and chemotherapies. The panel of acellular elements comprises, among others, soluble growth factors, oxygen, metabolites, and the proteins of the extracellular matrix (ECM) (CORDES and PARK 2007; DURAND 1994; KIM et al. 2006; PETERSEN et al. 2003; TANNOCK 1996; VAUPEL and MAYER 2005; WEDGWOOD and YOUNES 2006). The distinguishable parameter between a normal cell and a malignant cell is the acquisition of an autonomous positive feedback loop from those extracellular signals by the malignant cell. Most importantly, this process must not necessarily be associated with independence from extracellular signals as misleadingly reported. Uncoordinated reactions and the intracellular channeling and execution of these signals into action on extracellular growth signals integrate into perpetual mitosis of both the tumor cells themselves and of the normal cell types, which are overflowed with tumor cell-derived soluble growth factors. Similar to growth factors, tumor cells synthesize and secret proteins of the extracellular matrix and tissue-remodeling matrixmetalloproteinases to construct their own unique and progrowth microenvironment (CHANG and WERB 2001; CHUNG et al. 1992; LOPEZ-OTIN and MATRI-SIAN 2007; LYNCH and MATRISIAN 2002). Within this environment, specific niches provide a microenvironment that confers resistance to therapy with ionizing radiation and/or chemotherapeutics (DALTON 2003; DIAZ-MONTERO and MCINTYRE 2003; HEHLGANS et al. 2007b; HODKINSONS et al. 2007; LI and DALTON 2006; PASZEK and WEAVER 2004; WEAVER et al. 2002; ZAHIR and WEAVER 2004). Moreover, remodeling of the extracellular matrix generates migratory avenues for local tumor cell invasion and metastasis. Particularly the latter as limiting factor for patient's survival challenges systemic anticancer strategies and fosters the development of more targeted approaches against the primary tumor (BOARD and VALLE 2007; Co-CHRAN et al. 2008; LJUNGBERG 2007; MORABITO et al. 2007).

In addition to the intrinsic insensitivity of the majority of tumor cells to antigrowth signals, it can be hypothesized that some tumor cells grow in the before mentioned microenvironmental insensitivity-conferring niche or represent one of the tumor-initiating cells characterized by a great self-renewal potency and a slow doubling time.

Owing to an overarching function of the microenvironmental component called the extracellular matrix, this chapter depicts and summarizes the molecular, pathophysiological, and radiobiological aspects associated with tumor biology, radiation, and chemoresistance in the context of the cell adhesion molecule families, their interactions with other types of cell surface receptors and the downstream network of signal transducers.

5.2

Extracellular Matrix, Cell-Matrix Interactions, and Cell-Cell Interactions

The extracellular matrix represents the structural support for the cells in a tissue and further serves in regulating essential cell functions via cell surface receptors and as depot for growth factors. In connective tissues, the extracellular matrix either is between cells as interstitial matrix or organized as basement membrane providing anchorage for epithelial or endothelial cells (ALBERTS et al. 2002; LODISH et al. 2004). Either type of cell-matrix interaction can be found in all tissues and is mediated by different cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) mostly as transmembrane proteins (HYNES 2004). In general, the features mechanical stability and integrity of signal transduction in a tissue are also conducted by interactions between neighboring cells. These kinds of interactions are similarly accomplished by transmembrane proteins. Some of them are CAMs; others form, for example, intercellular tubes called gap junctions, which allow cell-cell communication via passage of molecules with a molecular weight below 1,000 kDa (ROUSSET 1996). To date, it is clear that all of these processes contribute to the proper regulation of normal tissue function and homeostasis as well as of malignant tissue in a differential and complex manner determined by the cumulated diversity of cellular alterations during the development of an individual tumor.

5.2.1 Extracellular Matrix

The presence of the extracellular matrix is essential for a large number of processes such as survival, proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, migration, and tissue integrity (ALAVI and STUPACK 2007; BLASCHKE et al. 1994; LABARGE et al. 2007; PETERSEN et al. 1998). The composition of the ECM based on the distribution of different molecules, as detailed below, depends on the tissue with its unique functions and its role in separating one tissue/organ from another.

An aspect of utmost importance is the direct impact of the ECM on the cell's dynamic in terms of cell shape, tissue tension, and motility resulting from membranespanning outside-in and inside-out signal transduction (GIANCOTTI and RUOSLAHTI 1999; HYNES 2002). Signals are transduced by both CAMs and growth factor receptors, and their intracellularly converging cascades. Regarding growth factors, the ECM sequesters a wide range of cellular growth factors (VLODAVSKY et al. 1990, 1991). On changes of the microenvironmental conditions, a set of proteases is able to release these deposited molecules to expeditiously act locally via their cognate transmembrane growth factor receptors. In this case, no de novo synthesis is required.

The molecular components assembling the ECM are produced and secreted by resident cells like fibroblasts (HAY 1989; SUGRUE and HAY 1981). Subsequent to secretion, these components aggregate with the existent network of hydrophilic glycosaminoglycans and fibrillar and elastic proteins.

5.2.1.1 Proteoglycan Components

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are carbohydrate polymers, which are usually attached to ECM proteins to form proteoglycans (ALBERTS et al. 2002; BOLENDER et al. 1981). Being molecules with a net negative charge, proteoglycans are hydrophilic, thus, attracting water molecules. This hydration characterizes the gel-like consistency of the ECM essential for the hydration of cells and as basis for the fibrillar and elastic proteins. Proteoglycans found in the ECM are outlined in the following:

- 1. *Keratan sulfate proteoglycans*. Keratan sulfate has variable sulfate content but does not contain uronic acid. Present in, e.g., cartilage, bone.
- Heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Heparan sulfate, as linear polysaccharide, is ubiquitously expressed in human tissues. Its proteoglycanic form binds to various protein ligands/receptors to participate in the regulation of biological functions like embryonic development and metastasis.
- 3. *Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans*. Chondroitin sulfate contributes to the elastic capacity and strength of tendons, ligaments, and cartilage.

5.2.1.2 Hyaluronic Acid

Hyaluronic acid is a polysaccharide consisting of alternative residues of D-glucuronic acid and N-acetylglucosamine. Hyaluronic acid, as major compound of the ECM and thus of the hydrophilic gel, realizes a high degree of absorbability to protect specific tissues against compression. Furthermore, hyaluronic acid contributes to the regulation of embryonic development, healing processes, inflammation, and tumor development (ADAMIA et al. 2005; NAGANO and SAYA 2004). Its specific cognate transmembrane receptor is CD44.

5.2.1.3 Fibronectin

Fibronectin, a high-molecular-weight glycoprotein, contains ~5% carbohydrate that facilitates adhesion to the CAM family of integrins as well as other ECM proteins such as collagen and heparan sulfate (CZIROK et al. 2006; GOSPODAROWICZ et al. 1979; RUOSLAHTI 1999). On binding of fibronectin, the cellular cytoskeleton is reorganized allowing, e.g., cell movement along ECM structures. This process is particularly important for wound healing and blood clotting. In cancer, fibronectin has been suggested to support tumor development and to mediate resistance to chemo- and radiotherapy as a consequence of an increased expression (CORDES and PARK 2007; DAMIANO 1999, 2002; HEHLGANS et al. 2007b).

5.2.1.4 Collagen

The most abundant matrix proteins in the ECM are collagens (Alberts et al. 2002; RAMACHANDRAN and KARTHA 1954). These fibrillar proteins are mainly responsible for the structural support essential for many cell functions of the resident cells. Upon synthesis of procollagen, packaging of procollagen in the Golgi apparatus, and exocytosis, procollagen is cleaved at specific peptide sites by procollagen peptidases. The evolved tropocollagen units are organized into fibrils, which subsequently assembled in collagen fibers. The fibers then attach to cell membranes through diverse types of proteins such as fibronectin and integrins. To date, 28 types of collagens have been reported. The majority-over 90%-are the collagens I, II, III, and IV. Subgroups of collagens are fibrillar (types I, II, III, V, XI), fibril-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices (FACITs) (types IX, XII, XIV), short chains (type VIII, X), basement membrane (type IV), and others (type VI, VII, XIII). Several diseases have been ascribed to genetic defects in collagen-encoding genes. A few examples are osteogenesis imperfecta (collagen I) and scurvy, which results from defective collagen due to the lack of Vitamin C. In this case, Vitamin C is an essential enzyme for a posttranslational modification process of the collagen molecule.

5.2.1.5 Laminin

Laminins represent the major noncollagenous scaffolding molecules particularly of basal laminae (JOHN-SON 1980). The members of this glycoprotein family are secreted and then integrated into existent ECM. In contrast to the collagenic fiber formation, laminins are organized as web-like networks, which effectively maintain a great capacity of tension force. Each laminin molecule is a heterotrimer assembled from alpha, beta, and gamma chains. Identified are the following chains: alpha chains (LAMA1, LAMA2, LAMA3, LAMA4, LAMA5), beta chains (LAMB1, LAMB2, LAMB3, LAMB4), and gamma chains (LAMC1, LAMC2, LAMC3). In summary, 15 different laminin heterotrimers are known. Laminins bind, for example, collagens and entactins.

5.2.1.6 Elastin

Elastin is synthesized by fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells. Elasticity in the tissue is given by elastin (ARDELT 1964). Tissues dependent on a great degree of elasticity are, e.g., blood vessels, lung, elastic ligaments, bladder, and skin.

The understanding of ECM structure, composition, and function is critical in comprehending the altered responsiveness of cancer cells upon irradiation and chemotherapy as well as the complex dynamics of local tumor cell invasion and distant metastasis. In the following, the variety of molecules involved in cell-matrix interactions and cell-cell contact are described in a more thorough manner.

5.2.2 Cell-Matrix Interactions

Interactions between cells and the ECM are facilitated through specifically organized areas of the cell membrane. Two well-known types of these interactions are the focal adhesions and the hemidesmosomes (Fig. 5.1; Table 5.1) (BROUSSARD et al. 2008; BURRIDGE et al. 1990; MARTIN et al. 2002).

The common feature of these adhesion-mediating sites is the presence of transmembrane integrin receptors forming an ECM-cytoskeleton nexus (see Sect. 5.3.1). In addition, many adapter proteins and signaling molecules congregate to build up a multiprotein complex at the cytoplasmic face of the cell membrane,



Fig. 5.1. Schematic delineation of cell–ECM and cell–cell interactions

Table 5.1. Different types of cell-ECM interactions

	Function	САМ	Occurrence
Focal adhesions	Anchorage	Integrins	E.g., cell migration, muscle-tendon connection
Hemidesmosomes	Anchorage	$\alpha_6 \beta_4$ integrin	E.g., epithelium

termed a focal adhesion (LO and CHEN 1994). Courses of assembling and disassembling take place in remodeling tissues, during cell migration and self-renewal in turnover tissues. More stable focal adhesions are formed, e.g., in muscle cells anchored to their tendons. Hemidesmosomes, molecularly organized similarly to focal adhesions, play an important role in epithelial tissue mediating anchorage of epithelial cells to the basement membrane. The terminus hemidesmosome evolved from the terminus desmosome (i.e., macula adherents [Latin for "adhering spot"]; see Sect. 5.2.3), which represents a spot-like cell structure specialized for cell-cell contact on the lateral side of an epithelial cell. As hemidesmosomes are also integrin dependent, the $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin, as common example, facilitates a cytoplasmic connection between the anchor protein plectin to keratin intermediate filaments. This composition helps to compensate tensile or shearing forces and contributes therefore to tissue integrity.

Concerning focal adhesions in epithelial cells, these sites of adhesion connect the ECM to actin filaments via transmembrane integrin receptors (HYNES 2002).

To note, intermediate filaments are cytoskeletal structures that are formed by different members of a family of related, highly conserved proteins (GODSEL et al. 2008). Most types of intermediate filaments are located in the cytoplasm. The nuclearly localized intermediate filaments are called lamins. Categorization of intermediate filaments into six groups has been done on the basis of similarities in amino acid sequence and protein structure. Types I and II intermediate filaments are acidic and basic keratins, namely epithelial keratins and trichocytic keratins (e.g., in hair and horns). Type III intermediate filaments are, e.g., vimentin (widely expressed in fibroblasts), Type IV intermediate filaments are, e.g., neurofilaments, type V intermediate filaments are nuclear lamins, type VI intermediate filaments are nestin. A well-known disease resulting from

gene mutations in keratin 5 or keratin 14 intermediate filament genes is, e.g., epidermolysis bullosa simplex (FINE and GRIFFITH 1985; ISHIDA-YAMAMOTO et al. 1991).

Actin is one of the most highly conserved proteins and the monomeric subunit of microfilaments (AL-BERTS et al. 2002; PERRY and COTTERILL 1965). Microfilaments belong to one of the three major components of the cytoskeleton. Actin is also a component of thin filaments managing contractility in muscle cells. Overall, actin serves in a variety of critical cellular mechanisms such as cell division, motility and shape, vesicle movement, signal transduction, and assembly and maintenance of cell junctions.

5.2.3 Cell–Cell Interactions

Desmosomes (macula adherents) are the subcellular correlates clenching neighboring cells together in simple/monolayer and stratified/multilayer epithelia and in muscle cells (Fig. 5.1; Table 5.2) (GREEN et al. 2007). These button-like attachment sites are located at the lateral side of a cell and contain transmembrane adhesion molecules of the cadherin family as well as different anchor proteins linking to the intracellular keratin cytoskeletal filaments. The extracellular portion of a cadherin, including five domains with calcium-binding motifs, binds to an identical cadherin on an adjacent cell for mediating cell-cell contact (PETTITT 2005). According to their structural composition, desmosomes fulfill different functions.

Tight junctions (zonula occludens), as second type of cell-cell contacts, serve as diffusion barrier to prevent the leakage of molecules and fluids through the intercellular space (Fig. 5.1, Table 5.2) (NIESSEN 2007; NIESSEN and GOTTARDI 2008). The barrier function is conferred by a branching network of independently sealing strands to result in a linkage of the cytoskeletons of neighboring cells. Multiple proteins, claudins and occludins representing the majority of components, crosslink the opposing cell membrane strands. Hence, the efficacy of tight junctions in preventing diffusion exponentially increases with the number of strands. In general, tight junctions achieve (1) attachment of cell to adjacent cells, (2) blocking of molecule diffusion between cells, and (3) preserving cellular polarity by preventing the motion of integral membrane proteins between the apical and basolateral surfaces of the cell. This includes the preservation and control of effective active transcellular transport or passive diffusion through the cell. They prevent the passage of molecules and ions through the space between cells. Tissues critically dependent on proper tight junction function are the epithelial tissue of the intestine, the epithelial tissue of the urinary tract and the endothelium of the brain, i.e., blood-brain barrier.

As third type of cell–cell contacts, gap junctions are composed of connexin monomers (Fig. 5.1; Table 5.2) (MESE et al. 2007; WANG and MEHTA 1995). Six monomers form a connexon hexamer, which serves as a hemichannel. When two hemichannels of adjacent cells associate, they establish a gap junction. This intercellular communication tunnel allows different molecules and ions, mostly small intracellular signaling molecules (intracellular mediators), with a molecular weight below 1,000 kDa to pass freely between cells (RoussET 1996). This type of cell–cell interaction is localized, for example, in the heart muscle, where it enables coordinated contraction.

Table 5.2. Different types of cell-cell interactions

	Function	САМ	Occurrence
Desmosomes	Anchorage	Cadherins	E.g., epithelium, heart muscle
Tight junctions	Occlusion	Claudins, occludins	E.g., intestine, urinary tract
Gap junctions	Communication	Connexin	E.g., heart, nervous system, bones

5.3 Cell Adhesion Molecules

5.3.1 Integrins

As outlined under Sect. 5.2.2, the CAMs of the integrin family present the main cell surface receptors for binding of cells to ECM proteins like fibronectin, collagen, or laminin (Table 5.3) (HYNES 2002; MARTIN et al. 2002; SCHMIDT et al. 1993; SCHWARTZ 2001). Moreover, integrins also serve as adhesion molecules for cell-cell interactions, especially on blood cells. Integrins are composed of two different transmembrane glycoproteins, known as α and β subunits, which bind noncovalently to form an $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer (Fig. 5.2). To date, 24 different integrin receptors have been identified (HYNES 2002). The ligand binding specificity of the heterodimers is influenced by the subunit combination and by cell-type specific factors. The binding of integrins to ECM proteins is accomplished by short amino acid sequences located at the large extracellular domain. Motifs for such integrin-binding sequences are RGD (arginine-glycine-aspartate), found in fibronectin or laminin or DGEA (aspartate-glycine-glutamic acid-alanine), and GFOGER (glycine-phenylalanine-glycine-glutamic acid-arginine) found in collagen (CALDERWOOD et al. 1995, 1997; Evans and Calderwood 2007; Liu et al. 2000; RUOSLAHTI 2003). Inside the cells, adapter proteins like talin, a-actinin, and vinculin bridge the gap between the cytoplasmic integrin domain and the cytoskeleton. This multiprotein complex forms the structural basis for an association with a large set of signal transduction molecules like focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and the Rous sarcoma oncogene (Src), eventually assembling a focal adhesion (BRAKEBUSCH and FASSLER 2003). The signaling works in opposite directions. While ligand binding to the integrin extracellular domain leads to activation of numerous intracellular signaling pathways (outside-in signaling), certain intracellular processes stimulated by, e.g., docking of growth factors to their cognate transmembrane receptor alter the binding affinity and avidity of integrins (inside-out signaling) (HYNES 2002). These mechanisms are poorly understood, but may be due to conformational changes of the receptor. Because integrin function is independent from de novo synthesis and/or degradation, the integrin-related adhesion response in both directions can proceed within seconds. For example, this allows platelets to circulate unimpeded in the blood until damage of the vascular wall activates the integrins in the

Characteristics	Integrins	Cadherins	Ig CAMs	Selectins
Ligands	ECM proteins, Ig CAMs	Cadherins	Ig CAMs, integrins, ECM proteins	Carbohydrates
Binding	Heterophilic	Homophilic	Homophilic, heterophilic	Heterophilic
Adhesion sites	Focal adhesions, hemidesmosomes, nonjunctional adhesion	Desmosomes, adherens junctions	Nonjunctional adhesion	Nonjunctional adhesion
Main function	Cell-matrix interactions	Cell-cell interactions	Cell-cell interactions	Cell-cell interactions
Tumor overexpression	E.g., HNSCC, breast cancer		E.g., neuroblastomas, SCLC	
Tumor downregulation		E.g., breast cancer, gastric cancer	E.g., gastrointestinal tumors	

Table 5.3. Families of cell adhesion molecules assigned to morphological, functional, and molecular characteristics

HNSCC head and neck small cell cancer, SCLC small cell lung cancer



Fig. 5.2. The four families of cell adhesion molecules. Depiction of their heterodimeric, homodimeric or single chain structure, important functional domains, and Ca^{2+} -dependent sites in each one of the receptor types

platelet membrane enhancing the affinity for fibrinogen (MOROI and JUNG 1998). The fibrinogen connects the platelets to a clot and prevents bleeding. This switch in binding activity is also important for lymphogenic or hematogenic metastasis of cancer cells when entering and leaving the vessel. Regarding integrin function, interactions between these CAM and transmembrane growth factor receptors build the basis for optimized and most efficient intracellular signaling and regulation of all types of cellular mechanisms (PORTER and HOGG 1998). Whether this mutual and cooperative interrelation is caused by transactivation mediated by a panel of membrane-associated cytoplasmic signaling molecules or through direct interactions remains to be solved.

In cancer, integrins fulfill the same functions as they do in normal tissue (CHUNG et al. 2008; DANEN 2005; MOCHIZUKI and OKADA 2007; RAMSAY et al. 2007). Although widely examined, the most common feature in various human tumor entities including breast cancer or squamous cell carcinomas is an abnormal integrin expression relative to the corresponding normal tissue. However, the expression can differ within one single tumor and between tumors of the same entity.

Despite this diversity and unclear pathophysiological consequences of an altered integrin expression, recent findings suggest an association of β_1 integrin expression and overall survival of patients with invasiveductal breast carcinomas (YAO et al. 2007). Accordingly, in vitro experiments showed a reversion of the transformed phenotype to a morphological and functional normal phenotype in breast cancer cells concomitant to a reduced tumor formation capability in vivo upon β_1 integrin inhibition (PARK et al. 2006). These observations indicate a strong contribution of integrins to oncogenic transformation.

Besides the expression of integrins, malignant cells acquire the ability to grow anchorage independent as a result of gain-of-function mutations in oncogenes localized within integrin-associated signaling pathways. In contrast, normal cells usually undergoing apoptosis upon detachment from ECM, a mechanism called anoikis. In vitro studies have shown that $\alpha_v\beta_6$ but not $\alpha_v\beta_5$ expression leads to reduced anoikis in squamous cell carcinoma cells (JANES and WATT 2004). This could be an explanation, why upregulation of $\alpha_v\beta_6$ seems to be a prognostic factor in human squamous cell carcinomas.

Another impact of integrins in cancer comes from gene mutation analyses. The poorly differentiated cell line SCC4, which originates from a human carcinoma of the tongue, is heterozygous for the point mutation T188I (T, threonine; I, isoleucine) in the β_1 integrin subunit (EVANS et al. 2004). This modification leads to constitutively active ligand binding independent from the type of associated β subunit. After transfection with wild-type β_1 integrin, the SCC4 cells begin to differentiate, indicating that this mutation may contribute to the neoplastic phenotype. Although these findings are remarkable because they show that alterations of integrin activation can influence the malignancy of cancer cells without changing the level of integrin expression, mutations in the β_1 integrin gene are rare. Screening of 124 human oral squamous cell carcinomas revealed six nucleotide changes, all of which could be also found in normal tissue of the patients (EVANS et al. 2004). Only one mutation resulted in an altered amino acid sequence of β_1 integrin. Analysis of the predicted structure suggests that this sequence variation does not interfere with the function of the heterodimeric receptor. Whether mutations of β_1 integrin or other integrin subunits play a general role in tumor development with respect to other cancer entities remains to be examined in further studies.

There are many ways how integrins can modulate the malignant characteristics of tumors including a modu-

lation of the behavior of the primary tumor in terms of invasion as well as a modulation of the tumor's metastatic abilities. In addition to cadherins (see Sect. 5.3.2), the invasiveness of tumors depends on integrins (HOOD and CHERESH 2002; RAMSAY et al. 2007). Cell migration representing one part of the complex process of cell invasion is a highly dynamic sequence of focal adhesion assembly and focal adhesion disassembly. Starting with smaller focal adhesions at the leading edge of a migrating cell, called focal complexes, the assembly of a focal complex into a larger, stable focal adhesion progresses through the recruitment of additional proteins (SMALL and RESCH 2005). These stable focal adhesions remain stationary, providing the cells an anchor from which to move in any direction. During the course of migration, the focal adhesions move from the front to the rear of the cells in a caterpillar, traction-like manner. Focal adhesions reaching the rear edge are disassembled. Referring to the frequent increased migratory potential of tumor cells, upregulation, e.g., of the basement membrane integrin receptor $\alpha_6\beta_4$ correlates with poor prognosis in a variety of different cancers not only due to promoted tumor progression, but also particularly due to enhanced invasiveness (LIPSCOMB and MERCURIO 2005). In glioblastoma cell lines, for example, inhibition of either β_1 integrin or β_3 integrin with specific inhibitory monoclonal antibodies strongly impairs cell invasion into basement membrane (CORDES et al. 2003). This effect yielded from an integrin-dependent alteration of the proteolytic activity of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which represent key enzymes to degrade the ECM and enable cells to invade. Correspondingly, it has been shown that $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin modulates MMP activity directly in endothelium and melanoma cells in vivo (BROOKS et al. 1996).

5.3.2 Cadherins

Cadherins are the main receptors for calcium-dependent cell-cell adhesion in most solid tissues (ALBERTS et al. 2002). Besides being responsible for the mechanical stability, they coordinate the integration of cells in functional structures like the epithelium and control cell movement in tissue development and organization, especially during embryogenesis (Table 5.3). Classical cadherins are transmembrane glycoproteins, which bind almost exclusively to the same type of receptor expressed on the other cell in a homophilic manner (Fig. 5.2). The intracellular domain is connected to the cytoskeleton via a group of anchor proteins known as catenins (PETTITT 2005; REYNOLDS 2007). This linkage is essential for strong adhesive activity. Disassembly of this functional complex and therefore disruption of cell-cell contact can be caused by tyrosine phosphorylation of either cadherin or catenin by a variety of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) like epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) or insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R). Contrariwise, cadherins are able to modulate RTK signaling, consequently interfering with many critical cellular processes (PETTITT 2005). Epithelial cadherin (E-cadherin)-mediated adhesion, for example, has been reported to reduce ligand-dependent EGFR activation, which results in decreased DNA synthesis and inhibition of cell growth (QIAN et al. 2004).

Considering these effects, it is not astonishing that cadherins are discussed to play a major role in tumorigenesis. E-cadherin especially is deemed a tumor suppressor (Cowin et al. 2005; REYNOLDS 2007). Many types of epithelial cancers show an inverse correlation of E-cadherin expression and patient outcome. According to the results of several studies, it has been postulated that the downregulation of E-cadherin is necessary for tumor cell invasion and formation of distant metastasis, and that reconstitution of the functional cadherin/ catenin complex might lead to reduced malignancy (REYNOLDS 2007). The loss of cadherin-mediated cellcell adhesion in cancer cells can be due to transcriptional mechanisms or increased proteolytic degradation by matrix metalloproteinases. For example, overexpression of dysadherin, a cancer-associated membrane protein, inactivates E-cadherin in a posttranscriptional manner, which induces experimental metastasis (INO et al. 2002). Mutations of the E-cadherin gene resulting in expression of a nonfunctional receptor have been found in lobular breast cancers, diffuse gastric cancers, and gynecological cancers (CHAN 2006; COWIN et al. 2005). Such mutations arise either de novo or can be inherited, which is the case with patients suffering from familiar diffuse gastric cancer.

5.3.3 Immunoglobulin Superfamily

The immunoglobulin-like (Ig-like) CAMs are widely expressed in different cell types including neurons, leukocytes, endothelial, and epithelial cells (Table 5.3) (ALBERTS et al. 2002). Although mediating mainly cellcell adhesion, Ig-like CAMs are also capable of binding to ECM proteins (ACHESON et al. 1991). In contrast to integrins or cadherins, their binding affinity is much weaker and not dependent on the presence of divalent cations like Ca²⁺ or Mg²⁺. Therefore, Ig-like CAMs are regarded to be responsible for the fine-adjustment mechanisms of adhesive processes and tissue organization. All members of this family have in common that the extracellular part contains one or more Ig-like domains, which are typical for antibodies (Fig. 5.2). Either the receptor can be tied to the membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor, or it can interact with intracellular signaling molecules via a transmembrane/ cytoplasmic tail (HEMPERLY et al. 1990; POLLERBERG et al. 1987).

The neural CAM (NCAM) is among the best-studied members of this group critical for brain development and memory formation (MILEUSNIC et al. 1999). It is expressed not only in neural cells, but also in a variety of other tissues like epithelium, colon, and pancreas. Interestingly, in numerous tumors, an altered NCAM expression pattern correlates with poor prognosis. Studies with transgenic mice have shown that loss of NCAM function increases lymphatic metastasis of pancreatic cancer by induction of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and tumor lymphangiogenesis (CRNIC et al. 2004). Accordingly, downregulation of NCAM was found to be associated with enhanced malignancy and reduced survival of patients with colorectal, gastric, or pancreatic carcinomas (FOGAR et al. 1997; ROESLER et al. 1997; TASCILAR et al. 2007). But there exist also contrary observations. NCAM overexpression in neuroblastomas and small cell lung cancer, for example, correlates with advanced stage and fatal course of disease and is used as prognostic marker (GLUER et al. 1998; MIYAHARA et al. 2001). Overall, the biological significance of NCAM for tumor development and progression is unclear to date and depends strongly on the tumor entity.

5.3.4 Selectins

Selectins are cell-cell adhesion molecules, which play a critical role in leukocyte diapedesis through the vascular wall due to inflammation or tissue injury (Table 5.3) (ALBERTS et al. 2002). The three closely related family members mainly expressed by leukocytes (L-selectin), platelets (P-selectin), and endothelial cells (E- and P-selectin) contain a characteristic extracellular lectin-domain that binds to carbohydrate ligands (Fig. 5.2). In contrast to other CAMs like cadherins or integrins, selectin function is confined to the vascular system.

Several studies have indicated that selectins also recognize cancer cells and therefore facilitate hematogenic metastasis. Overexpression of E-selectin in the liver of transgenic mice leads to redirection of melanoma cells in this organ (BIANCONE et al. 1996). Specific targeting Eselectin with antibodies has been shown to significantly decrease the number of experimental metastasis in vivo (BRODT et al. 1997). Not only E-selectin, but also other members of the selectin family are suggested to promote metastasis. P-selectin-deficient as well as L-selectindeficient mice show a reduction of tumor metastasis in different mouse models. Another therapeutic approach uses the anticoagulant heparin for potentially blocking selectin-mediated adhesion of tumor cells to endothelium (BORSIG et al. 2002). Taking into account the prominent impact of normal cells on tumor progression and tumor microenvironment, L-selectins on leukocytes have been hypothesized to contribute to cancer development and progression (COUSSENS and WERB 2002).

5.4

Integrin Signaling Molecules

Integrins, together with a range of structural molecules and signaling molecules, provide a connection between the outside and the inside of the cell (BRAKEBUSCH and FASSLER 2003: CHUNG and KIM 2008: HEHLGANS et al. 2007b; Hynes 2002; Schwartz 2001). This specific cell membrane area is called focal adhesion. It is characterized by specific types of macromolecular protein assemblies transmitting mechanical force and regulatory signals over the cell membrane. Effective regulation of an adequate cell behavior results from the interactions of cells with their surrounding ECM. Furthermore, integrin- and receptor tyrosine kinase-mediated signaling are connected to control the cellular fate, e.g., survival, cell cycle progression, proliferation, adhesion, migration, differentiation, and apoptosis (Fig. 5.3) (SCHWARTZ 2001; WATT 2002).

One of the molecules, which plays a major role in the above-mentioned processes and also holds a central position in the growth factor receptor-integrin network, is the putative serine-threonine kinase integrinlinked kinase (ILK). ILK is bound to the cytoplasmic tail of β -integrin subunits through its C-terminal kinase domain (Figs. 5.3, 5.4a) (HANNIGAN et al. 1996). Downstream, ILK has been reported to phosphorylate the prosurvival protein kinase Akt on serine 473 and glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK3 β) on serine 9 in a phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K)-dependent manner (DELCOMMENNE et al. 1998; LYNCH et al. 1999). More recent findings suggest ILK to be a pseudokinase (BOUDEAU et al. 2006) and the RICTOR-mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex to be responsible for phosphorylation of Akt on serine 473 (SARBASSOV et al. 2005). Pseudokinases are proteins that lack at least one of the highly conserved catalytic residues/motifs



Fig. 5.3. Scheme of transmembrane integrins and selected integrin signaling mediators. Cooperative and mutual signal transduction between integrins and receptor tyrosine kinases optimally control critical cell functions like survival, proliferation, and apoptosis. *Akt* v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog 1, *ECM* extracellular matrix, *FAK* focal adhesion kinase, *GSK3*β glycogen synthase kinase-3β, *ILK* integrin-linked kinase, *Nck* non-catalytic (region of) tyrosine kinase adaptor protein, *Cas* (p130Cas), Crk-associated substrate, *Pinch1* particularly interesting new cysteine-histidine rich protein, *PI3K* phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, *RTK* receptor tyrosine kinase, *MEK* mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase, *MAPK* mitogen-activated protein kinase, *PIP3* phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate, *Src* Rous sarcoma oncogene

in the kinase-like domain. This event suggests these proteins to be inactive in terms of regular protein kinases. Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3) being a phospholipid component in the cytosolic side of cell membranes, seems to activate ILK through interaction with the central pleckstrin homology ([PH] PH domains facilitate protein recruitment to membranes, cellular compartments or enable protein-protein interactions) domain of ILK (DELCOMMENNE et al. 1998). The N-terminal ankyrin repeat domain contains four ankyrin (ANK) repeats and is responsible for binding to the particularly interesting new cysteine-histidine-rich protein 1 (Pinch1). Ankyrins are important for attachment processes between integral membrane proteins and the cytoskeleton.

Pinch1 and its homologue Pinch2 are so-called LIM-only proteins, each consisting of five LIM domains (BRAUN et al. 2003; DOUGHERTY et al. 2005; STANCHI

et al. 2005). The name LIM derives from the initials of the three first described proteins containing LIM domains: LIN-11, ISL1, and MEC-3. LIM domains mediate protein-protein interactions and are composed of two cysteine-rich zinc finger structures. The first N-terminal LIM domain 1 of Pinch1 is essential for binding to the N-terminal ankyrin repeat domain of ILK (Figs. 5.3, 5.4b) (Tu et al. 1999; VELYVIS et al. 2001). Moreover, Pinch1 serves as an important structural component in the RTK-integrin connective network by forming a ternary complex with ILK and Nck2, a Src homology (SH)2/SH3 adaptor protein (Tu et al. 1998; VAYNBERG et al. 2005). Responsible for this interaction is the fourth LIM domain of Pinch1 and the third SH3 domain of Nck2. Nck2 itself binds to growth factor receptors like epidermal growth factor receptor or platelet-derived growth factor receptor β (PDGFR β) with its C-terminal SH2 domain (Fig. 5.3, 5.4c) (Tu et al. 1998).



Fig. 5.4a–e. Essential transducers and modulators of integrin signals. Important functional domains and phosphorylation sites

A second important mediator of integrin signals is the 125-kDa protein focal adhesion kinase (Fig. 5.3) (PARSONS 2003; TACHIBANA et al. 1995). FAK is a nonreceptor tyrosine kinase, which transmits signals from both integrins and RTKs to regulate cell shape, growth, survival, motility, adhesion, and migration. FAK activation, for example by adhesion, leads to autophosphorylation on tyrosine 397, which is then followed by recruitment of a signaling complex consisting of phosphorylated p130 Crk-associated substrate (p130Cas) on tyrosine 410, Src and phosphorylated paxillin on tyrosine 31 and 118 (Fig. 5.4d) (CALALB et al. 1995; MITRA et al. 2005; PARSONS 2003). Once phosphorylated, FAK signals to mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and calpain-2 or recruits c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK) to focal adhesion sites to influence cell proliferation, migration, and apoptosis. FAK consists of 1,053 amino acids and contains an amino terminal region, which displays sequence homology to band 4.1 and ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) membranecytoskeletal linker proteins (Figs. 5.3, 5.4d) (GIRAULT et al. 1999). This approximately 300-amino acid region, called FERM, is found in a number of membrane-targeted proteins (CHISHTI et al. 1998). FERM domains mediate interactions with cytoplasmic regions of transmembrane receptors and with phosphoinositides to efficiently localize FERM domain-containing proteins to membranes (BARRET et al. 2000; BOMPARD et al. 2003; HIRAO et al. 1996). The central FAK kinase domain spans approximately amino acids 415 to 618 and contains tyrosine 576/577 phosphorylation sites within

the activation loop of FAK (NOWAKOWSKI et al. 2002). Within the linker region between the FERM and kinase segment lies the tyrosine 397 phosphorylation site, which is not strictly an autophosphorylation site but is also activated by Src SH2 binding (MITRA et al. 2005; SIESSER and HANKS 2006). This phosphorylation further stimulates FAK activity through phosphorylation of other phosphorylation sites, including tyrosine 576/577 residues (CARON-LORMIER and BERRY 2005). A second element in this linker region is the Src SH3-binding motif (CECCARELLI et al. 2006). The C-terminal focal adhesion targeting (FAT) domain is responsible for binding to paxillin and talin, an integrin-associated protein, and for localization of the protein to focal adhesions (HAYASHI et al. 2002; SCHLAEPFER et al. 2004).

Another protein that has been lately discovered to be associated with integrin signaling is the integral membrane protein Caveolin-1 (Fig. 5.3, 5.4e). Caveolin proteins are major components of caveolae, invaginations of the cell membrane, which participate in important physiological functions of the cell including endocytosis, membrane trafficking, lipid homeostasis, and a number of signaling events (ANDERSON 1998; FIELD-ING and FIELDING 2003; SALANUEVA et al. 2007). So far, three Caveolin proteins, named Caveolin-1, -2, and -3, have been described. Caveolin-1 and -2 are mostly coexpressed with high expression levels in differentiated cells like endothelial, epithelial and smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, adipocytes, and pneumocytes. Caveolin-2 is primarily expressed in muscle tissue-types (Song et al. 1996; TANG et al. 1996). All Caveolin isoforms contain a central transmembrane domain and cytosolic carboxyand amino-terminal domains. The C-terminal membrane attachment domain contains three palmitoylation sites for anchoring of the protein to the membrane. The N-terminal membrane-proximal oligomerization domain mediates also interaction with other proteins for regulation of their activity (COUET et al. 1997; LI et al. 1996). Pathophysiological functions have been described for Caveolin-1, which is also involved in tumorigenesis, tumor suppression, differentiation, and oncogenic transformation (CARVER and SCHNITZER 2003; GALBIATI et al. 1998; WILLIAMS and LISANTI 2005). Tyrosine 14-phosphorylated Caveolin-1 seems to accumulate at focal adhesion sites where it triggers extracellular signals (LEE et al. 2000; METTOUCHI et al. 2001). Direct inhibition of Src and EGFR as well as direct activation of the insulin receptor by Caveolin-1 has been reported (Окамото et al. 1998; Уамамото et al. 1998). Caveolin-1 also interacts with \$1 integrins and promotes Fyn-dependent Shc phosphorylation and MAPK activation (WARY et al. 1998; WEI et al. 1999).

5.5

Matrix Metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases are required for degradation of the extracellular matrix and therefore have important functions in tissue remodeling (ALBERTS et al. 2002). Tissue remodeling takes place not only under several physiological conditions like embryogenesis, angiogenesis, and wound healing, but also during pathological processes, namely tumor invasion, metastasis, and arthritis (RA and PARKS 2007).

On the cellular basis, MMPs are involved in all events requiring a change in ECM composition forming an optimized microenvironment for a cell to adhere, migrate, proliferate, apoptose, or differentiate. To date, 28 different MMPs have been identified, at first on the basis of genomic screening, from which 24 MMP proteins can be found tissue specifically in humans (GREENLEE et al. 2007). In contrast to other endopeptidases, MMPs require a zinc ion as cofactor for their catalytic activity. They can be functionally classified in dependence on their substrate specificity in collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins, and membrane-type MMPs (MT-MMPs) (Table 5.4).

Additionally, there are a number of MMPs, which do not fit exactly in this classification but are ordered with regard to structural similarities, evolutionary classification, or differential expression (CHANG and WERB 2001; RA and PARKS 2007).

For tight regulation of function, MMPs are initially synthesized as inactive zymogens (i.e., a proenzyme or an inactive enzyme precursor) (CHANG and WERB 2001). Responsible for this inactive state is a highly conserved prodomain consisting of the amino acids PRCGxPD (proline-arginine-cysteine-glycine-x-proline-aspartate), which inhibits enzymatic function of the protein by covering the catalytic site through direct interaction of the cysteine residue with the zinc ion in the active site. This event prevents substrate binding and cleavage resulting in the active form of a MMP. As well known mediator of MMP cleavage, urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) have been assigned critical roles in cancer progression and metastasis development (BLASI and CARMELIET 2002; KUCHAREWICZ et al. 2003; STERNLICHT and WERB 2001). Other proteases involved in activation of MMPs are chymotrypsin, trypsin, and MMPs itself. Apart from the membrane bound MT-MMPs, which contain a transmembrane domain and are intracellularly activated once inserted into the cell membrane, MMPs are secreted into the extracellular space as inactive proenzyme (HERNANDEZ-BARRANTES et al. 2002; NAGASE 1997). The second conserved domain is the catalytic domain with the structural metal binding 106 to 119 residues. The zinc-binding active site within this domain consists of 52 to 58 amino ac-

Family	MMP type	Substrate
Collagenase	1, 8, 13, 18	Triple-helical fibrillar collagens
Gelatinase	2,9	Type IV collagen and gelatin
Stromelysin	3, 10, 11	Variety of ECM proteins but not collagens
Membrane type	14, 15, 16, 17	Variety of ECM proteins

Table 5.4. Types of ECM-degrading MMPs

ids. A conserved sequence HExxHxxGxxH (histidineglutamic acid-xx-histidine-xx-glycine-xx-histidine) forms the zinc-binding motif, and three histidine residues mediate direct interaction with the zinc ion (MASSOVA et al. 1998). The catalytic domain is linked to the third conserved domain, represented by a C-terminal hemopexin-like domain expressing a variable hinge region of up to 75 amino acids. The hemopexin domain seems to determine substrate specificity of the MMPs and serves as binding domain for tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs).

Beside the above-described intramolecular inhibition of catalytic function, TIMPs provide another regulatory mechanism controlling proper MMP function (GOMEZ et al. 1997; STERNLICHT and WERB 2001). Four members of this family are known, TIMP-1 to -4. These inhibitors are also expressed in a tissue-specific way. They either inactivate active MMPs or inhibit the activation process. Gelatinases such as the well known MMP-2 and MMP-9 possess an additional gelatinbinding region within their catalytic domain before the zinc-binding motif. Membrane-type furin-activated MMPs contain a furin cleavage site within their prodomain and a C-terminal transmembrane domain.

In adults, the activity of MMPs is very low due to tight inhibitory regulation. This fragile balance is somehow perturbed during invasive tumor progression due to mutations in encoding MMP genes as well as inhibition and reduced expression of TIMPs. Overall, MMPs pronouncedly contribute to local tumor cell invasion and metastasis (GUO and GIANCOTTI 2004; STERN-LICHT and WERB 2001).

In a variety of human cancers, the expression of different MMPs is elevated and responsible for metastatic events limiting the success of anticancer therapy (ERLER et al. 2006; JINGA et al. 2006). In general, former and current efforts in targeting MMP expression and activity failed to show significant improvement or resulted in just slightly improved tumor control.

5.6 Migration and Metastasis

Elucidating the process of metastasis in the context of this chapter in more detail, clarification about the different molecules and steps involved is necessary. The set of molecular actors expressed by both tumor cells and tumor-associated normal cells like endothelial cells and fibroblasts is large and their activity is likely to depend in majority on paracrine effects. The complexity of events responsible for the intrinsic pressure driving tumor cell outgrowth and settling at distant organ sites is unclear to date. Likely, a mutual combination of autonomous cellular factors such as constitutive activation of migration-related molecules and life-threatening microenvironmental changes in oxygen and metabolite levels triggers the tumor cells to search for better survival conditions.

For the execution of the metastatic circuit of actions, a tumor cell requires a range of prerequisites of which integrins, matrix metalloproteinases, and signal transduction are crucial (FRIEDL and BROCKER 2000; HOOD and CHERESH 2002; MUNSHI and STACK 2006). During the course of events, cells must detach from the ECM and neighboring cells, migrate while degrading the extracellular matrix, penetrate the basement membrane, a thin ECM structure that segregates tissue compartments, invade the bloodstream, a process called intravasation, survive the shear stress in the vasculature, exit the bloodstream in the target organ (extravasation), attach, and proliferate in their new surrounding (Guo and GIANCOTTI 2004; HOOD and CHERESH 2002). These different processes depend on dysregulation of integrin and receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in metastatic cells due to activating mutations in oncogenes and loss-of-function mutations in tumor suppressor genes (BISSELL and RADISKY 2001; GIANCOTTI and RUO-SLAHTI 1999; HYNES 2003). Additionally, upregulation of integrin expression in tumor cells has been shown to enhance migration, invasion, and tumor progression (Albelda et al. 1990; Guo and GIANCOTTI 2004; MERCURIO and RABINOVITZ 2001; PLANTEFABER and HYNES 1989). For the transition from adenoma to invasive carcinoma, cells undergo a process, which involves a modification of integrin-mediated cell-ECM interactions (see Sect. 5.3.1) and E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell contacts (see Sect. 5.3.2).

Migration events, both in normal and malignant cells, are initiated by polarization of the cell, followed by actin polymerization at the leading edge of the cell and lamellipodium formation (RAUCHER and SHEETZ 2000). Integrins and integrin-associated proteins accumulate at the leading edge of the cell to stimulate adhesion processes and signaling in response to new contact sites (KIOSSES et al. 2001; SCHMIDT et al. 1993). The focal contact sites at the rear end of the cell are detached by cleavage of focal adhesion proteins or modulation of integrin affinity to ECM proteins (FRANCO and HUT-TENLOCHER 2005; SHIRAHA et al. 1999). Finally, the cell moves forward due to contractile forces (LAUFFEN-BURGER and HORWITZ 1996). FAK is essential for migration by interaction with cytosolic part of integrin subunits and growth factor receptors. Additional molecules involved are p130Cas, Src, Crk, and Rho-GTPases such as Rac controlling actin organization (KLEMKE et al. 1998). A second FAK-mediated promigratory pathway is the Grb2/SOS/Ras/ERK pathway (van NIM-WEGEN and VAN DE WATER 2007). Integrins also participate in regulating proteases, for example MMP-2 and -9, that degrade the basement membrane, composed of ECM proteins like collagens type IV, laminins, and proteoglycans. An example for integrin–MMP interaction is the recruitment of MMP-2 by integrins on the outside of the cell, where MMP-2 degrades ECM components to facilitate migration and invasion of the cell (BROOKS et al. 1996). Furthermore, integrins can associate with uPA receptors (CHAPMAN and Wei 2001).

Conclusively, migratory and metastatic events result from concerted and complex actions that provide optimal avenues for cells to traverse from one point to another, in case of metastasis, beyond physiological borders and the intravascular phase.

5.7

Radiation and Chemoresistance of Tumor Cells Through Cell-Matrix Interactions

A current hypothesis is that malignant tumors, in general, develop areas, so-called niches (different from the "cancer stem cell" niche), which confer a high degree of resistance against ionizing irradiation or cytotoxic drugs to the tumor cells. The molecular characterization of these specific areas is ongoing but surely involves the binding of cells to the ECM as well as the binding of cells to other cells, regardless if malignant or normal.

As obvious from literature search, cell-cell contacts have been a focus of interest in cancer research for many years (RUCH and TROSKO 2001; TROSKO and RUCH 1998). Recently, the impact of cell-matrix interactions on tumor cell resistance was evidently demonstrated in several cell lines from different solid and hematologic tumor entities in vitro. Dependent on the characteristics, the phenomena were called "cell adhesion-mediated radiation resistance" (CAM-RR) or "cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance" (CAM-DR) (CORDES and MEINEKE 2003; DALTON 2003; DAMI-ANO et al. 1999). Most relevant for in vitro cancer research, this effect can easily be observed when comparing the radio- or chemosensitivity of cells plated on a conventional plastic culture dish with cells plated on different matrix proteins like fibronectin, collagen, or laminin. The contact with ECM proteins and the alterations in signaling caused by these interactions strongly support the cell to survive the treatment. A further increase in resistance can be achieved by placing the cells in a three-dimensional matrix, simulating more physiological growth conditions. There are ongoing efforts to reveal the underlying mechanisms and identify the cellular proteins involved in CAM-RR and CAM-DR, with the hope that this knowledge can add useful and successful novel therapeutic agents to cancer treatment.

It has been discovered early that integrins, the main receptors for ECM proteins, participate in the cellular response to geno- and cytotoxic stress. Irradiation, for example, leads to a dose-dependent upregulation of several integrin subunits or of specific heterodimeric integrin receptors (CORDES et al. 2003; WILD-BODE et al. 2001), while knockdown of integrin expression with small interfering RNA (siRNA) radiosensitizes numerous normal or neoplastic cells (CORDES et al. 2006, 2007; ESTRUGO et al. 2007). Experiments with mouse fibroblasts expressing a signaling-incompetent mutant of β_1 integrin demonstrated that not only integrin expression, but also integrin function is essential for cell survival after genotoxic injury (CORDES et al. 2006).

Unraveling the underlying molecular mechanism contributing to CAM-RR and CAM-DR, it was found that cell adhesion to fibronectin leads to an increase and prolongation of the radiation-induced G2-phase arrest in lung carcinoma cells, providing time for DNA damage repair thereby ensuring genome integrity (CORDES and VAN BEUNINGEN 2003). Similar effects were found in prostate epithelial cells after irradiation (KREMER et al. 2006).

Besides the modulation of cell cycle transition and DNA repair, integrins also seem in control of drug- and radiation-induced apoptotic cell death. Small cell lung cancer cells adherent to laminin, fibronectin, or collagen type IV undergo less apoptosis after treatment with different cytotoxic drugs than cells grown on a nonspecific control substrate (Sethi et al. 1999). Subsequent to inhibition of β_1 integrin, using a function-blocking β_1 integrin antibody, this prosurvival effect of matrix proteins was pronouncedly diminished. It was further confirmed in leukemia cells that integrins play a critical role for the regulation of apoptosis. While downregulation of β_1 integrin resulted in elevated caspase-3, -9, and -8 cleavage and enhanced radiation-induced apoptotic death, treatment with β_1 integrin stimulatory antibodies had the opposite effect and reduced significantly the rate of apoptosis (ESTRUGO et al. 2007). Eventually, Estrugo et al. delineated a novel mechanistic model showing fibronectin-ligated β_1 integrins to efficiently block caspases-8 cleavage upon radiation via recruitment and stimulation of Akt.

In addition to resistance against irradiation and classical cytotoxic drugs, integrin-mediated cell-ECM interactions reduce the efficacy of novel molecular therapeutics. Recently, Eke et al. (2006) showed that adhesion to fibronectin attenuates the anti-proliferative effect of a potent pharmacological EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor in human squamous cell carcinoma cells of the head and neck. An explanation for the antagonistic effects by cell adhesion lies in the concept of receptor transactivation where integrin-fibronectin binding cross-activates EGFR and vice versa. Moreover, as reviewed in Sect. 5.4, cytoplasmic signaling is rather organized like a network than as straight pathways of canonical order. Ongoing studies testing other molecular therapeutics are currently characterizing the more general aspects of this phenomenon, which would at least in part explain the low efficacy of targeting drugs like Erbitux (cetuximab, EGFR antibody), Iressa (gefitinib, EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor), or Avastin (bevacizumab, VEGF antibody) (BAUMANN et al. 2008; KRAUSE et al. 2008; ZIPS et al. 2005).

But not only integrin-mediated cell adhesion modulates cellular radio- or chemosensitivity. Integrin downstream molecules such as ILK and FAK or integrin-associated proteins like Caveolin-1 have been reported to alter resistance against cyto- and genotoxic injury (Fig. 5.5) (CORDES et al. 2007; EKE et al. 2006, 2007; HEHL-GANS et al. 2007a, 2008; KASAHARA et al. 2002). Most interestingly, ILK confers opposite survival effects upon irradiation as expected from the literature on drug sensitivity and ILK (DUXBURY et al. 2005; EDWARDS et al. 2005; PERSAD et al. 2000). Human lung carcinoma cells, which are transfected with a constitutive active ILK mutant, are more sensitive to irradiation with X-rays than is the ILK wild type and control cells (CORDES 2004). These data could be confirmed in human squamous cell carcinoma cells of the head and neck (EKE et al. 2006, 2007). Consistent with these observations, reduction of ILK protein levels with siRNA confers radioresistance. Not only in solid tumors, but also in leukemia cells, ILK has shown antisurvival effects (HESS et al. 2007). ILKoverexpressing cells are highly sensitive to radiation-induced apoptosis, while downregulation of ILK results in radioprotection of the cells. These effects seem to be due to an interaction between ILK and different caspases. Interestingly, in mouse fibroblasts but not in tumor cells the radiosensitizing effect of ILK is antagonized when cells interact with different extracellular matrix proteins (HEHLGANS et al. 2008) indicating that ILK modulates the radiation response of normal fibroblasts and cancer



Fig. 5.5. A summary of our current knowledge how integrin signaling critically modifies certain cellular response pathways upon radiation- or drug-induced cytotoxic stress. Cascades in *green* mediate prosurvival signals from transmembrane located β integrins and RTKs via Ras/MEK/MAPK, Akt, or FAK/Src/Cas in a cell type- and/or context-dependent manner. The cascade in *red* transduces anti-survival signals via ILK, caspase-8 and caspase-3 to promote apoptosis

cells in a differential manner. Recent additional data provided evidence that ILK is strongly associated with differentiation in normal tissues as well as with redifferentiation in tumor tissues (HAASE et al. 2008).

In contrast to ILK, overexpression of the prosurvival integrin signaling mediator FAK protects leukemia cells from radiation- and chemo-induced apoptosis (KASA-HARA et al. 2002). Silencing of FAK protein expression with siRNA mediated knockdown increases the radiosensitivity of different tumor cell lines originating from pancreatic cancer (CORDES et al. 2007), breast cancer, and colorectal cancer (MCLEAN et al. 2005). Others have shown that human melanoma cells become more sensitive to the chemotherapeutic agent 5-fluorouracil when FAK expression is downregulated (SMITH et al. 2005).

Besides the critical role of proximal integrin signaling proteins, the integral membrane protein Caveolin-1, essential for endo- and exocytosis and linking of integrins with growth factor receptors, is a critical modulator of cellular radiation sensitivity. Recently, CORDES et al. (2007) showed that Caveolin-1 expression as well as the number of Caveolin-1-positive caveolae is induced by ionizing irradiation. In reference to this chapter, Caveolin-1-overexpression in pancreatic carcinoma cells leads to a significant reduction in radiosensitivity in comparison with control cells. Consistent with these results, a knockdown of Caveolin-1 enhanced the cellular radiosensitivity. These effects are partially channeled by a strong growth delay with a concomitant rise in G1phase cells but may be also caused by activity changes in important prosurvival signaling pathways such as the Akt cascade (CORDES et al. 2007).

5.8

Summary and Perspective

Adhesion and invasion are controlled by integrin receptors and are frequently dysregulated in cancer with disastrous consequences such as local destruction of

Table 5.5. Therapeutic agents against integrins. Data summary of approved agents and agents currently evaluated in clinical trials

Active agent	Brand name	Target	Indications (approved)	Indications (in clinical trials)
Antibodies				
Natalizumab	Tysabri	$\alpha_4\beta_7$	Multiple sclerosis, Crohn's disease	
Abciximab	ReoPro	GPIIb/IIIa	Angioplasty	
Volociximab (M200)		$\alpha_5\beta_1$		Renal cell carcinoma, melanoma
Vitaxin (MEDI-522)		$\alpha_v\beta_3$		Melanoma, colorectal carcinoma, prostate cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis
CNTO 95		$a_{\rm v}$		Prostate cancer, melanoma
Peptides				
Cilengitide (EMD 121974)		$\begin{array}{l} \alpha_v\beta_{3,}\\ \alpha_v\beta_5 \end{array}$		Glioblastoma, melanoma, lym- phoma, renal cell carcinoma, colon carcinoma
Eptifibatide	Integrilin	$\alpha_2\beta_3$	Small heart attacks, angioplasty	
JSM6427		$\alpha_5\beta_1$		Macular degeneration
Non-peptides				
Tirofiban	Aggrastat	GPIIb/IIIa	Instable angina pectoris	
E7820		α_2		Colorectal carcinoma, lymphoma

Data obtained from http://www.clinicaltrials.gov and http://www.fda.gov

normal tissue, metastases, and ineffective local tumor control by anticancer therapeutics. In particular, aggravated local tumor control evolves from the combination of genetic alterations and changes in the tumor micromilieu. Being widely neglected for decades, the myriad micromilieu factors such as oxygen, lactate, and extracellular matrix are increasingly recognized as potent modulators of therapy resistance in cancer.

With respect to the content of this chapter, Table 5.5 summarizes the integrin targeting compounds current in clinical trials. Many of them are administrated in inflammatory diseases but others are given as monotherapy in a variety of human cancers. Speculatively not curative by themselves, anti-integrin agents might be potent when applied in combination with conventional radio- and chemotherapy as well as in a combination with other molecular drugs. Solving the intra- and extracellular networks a tumor cell exploits for its growth and spreading benefits in more depth may foster the diagnosis of early-stage cancer, the development of novel drugs, and eventually increased patient survival.

References

- Acheson A, Sunshine JL, Rutishauser U (1991) NCAM polysialic acid can regulate both cell-cell and cell-substrate interactions. J Cell Biol 114:143–153
- Adamia S, Maxwell CA, Pilarski LM (2005) Hyaluronan and hyaluronan synthases: potential therapeutic targets in cancer. Curr Drug Targets Cardiovasc Haematol Disord 5:3–14
- Alavi A, Stupack DG (2007) Cell survival in a three-dimensional matrix. Methods Enzymol 426:85–101
- Albelda SM, Mette SA, Elder DE et al (1990) Integrin distribution in malignant melanoma: association of the beta 3 subunit with tumor progression. Cancer Res 50:6757–6764
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J et al (2002) Molecular biology of the cell, 4th edn. Garland Science, New York
- Anderson RG (1998) The caveolae membrane system. Annu Rev Biochem 67:199–225
- Ardelt W (1964) [Elastin, elastase, elastolysis.] (In Polish) Postepy Biochem 10:245–264
- Barret C, Roy C, Montcourrier P et al (2000) Mutagenesis of the phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) binding site in the NH₂-terminal domain of ezrin correlates with its altered cellular distribution. J Cell Biol 151:1067–1080
- Baumann M, Krause M, Hill R (2008) Exploring the role of cancer stem cells in radioresistance. Nat Rev Cancer 8:545-554
- Biancone L, Araki M, Araki K et al (1996) Redirection of tumor metastasis by expression of E-selectin in vivo. J Exp Med 183:581–587
- Bissell MJ, Radisky D (2001) Putting tumours in context. Nat Rev Cancer 1:46–54

- Blaschke RJ, Howlett AR, Desprez PY et al (1994) Cell differentiation by extracellular matrix components. Methods Enzymol 245:535–556
- Blasi F, Carmeliet P (2002) uPAR: a versatile signalling orchestrator. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:932–43
- Board RE, Valle JW (2007) Metastatic colorectal cancer: current systemic treatment options. Drugs 67:1851–1867
- Bolender DL, Seliger WG, Markwald RR et al (1981) Structural analysis of extracellular matrix prior to the migration of cephalic neural crest cells. Scan Electron Microsc (Pt 2):285–296
- Bompard G, Martin M, Roy C et al (2003) Membrane targeting of protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPL1 through its FERM domain via binding to phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate. J Cell Sci 116 (Pt 12):2519–2530
- Borsig L, Wong R, Hynes RO et al (2002) Synergistic effects of L- and P-selectin in facilitating tumor metastasis can involve non-mucin ligands and implicate leukocytes as enhancers of metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:2193–2198
- Boudeau J, Miranda-Saavedra D, Barton GJ et al (2006) Emerging roles of pseudokinases. Trends Cell Biol 16:443–452
- Brakebusch C, Fassler R (2003) The integrin-actin connection, an eternal love affair. EMBO J 22:2324–2333
- Braun A, Bordoy R, Stanchi F et al (2003) PINCH2 is a new five LIM domain protein, homologous to PINCH and localized to focal adhesions. Exp Cell Res 284:239–250
- Brodt P, Fallavollita L, Bresalier RS et al (1997) Liver endothelial E-selectin mediates carcinoma cell adhesion and promotes liver metastasis. Int J Cancer 71:612–619
- Brooks PC, Stromblad S, Sanders LC et al (1996) Localization of matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 to the surface of invasive cells by interaction with integrin alpha v beta 3. Cell 85:683-693
- Broussard JA, Webb DJ, Kaverina I (2008) Asymmetric focal adhesion disassembly in motile cells. Curr Opin Cell Biol 20:85–90
- Burridge K, Nuckolls G, Otey C et al (1990) Actin-membrane interaction in focal adhesions. Cell Differ Dev 32:337–342
- Calalb MB, Polte TR, Hanks SK (1995) Tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase at sites in the catalytic domain regulates kinase activity: a role for Src family kinases. Mol Cell Biol 15:954–963
- Calderwood DA, Tuckwell DS, Humphries MJ (1995) Specificity of integrin I-domain-ligand binding. Biochem Soc Trans 23:504S
- Calderwood DA, Tuckwell DS, Eble J et al (1997) The integrin alpha1 A-domain is a ligand binding site for collagens and laminin. J Biol Chem 272:12311–12317
- Caron-Lormier G, Berry H (2005) Amplification and oscillations in the FAK/Src kinase system during integrin signaling. J Theor Biol 232:235–248
- Carver LA, Schnitzer JE (2003) Caveolae: mining little caves for new cancer targets. Nat Rev Cancer 3:571–581
- Ceccarelli DF, Song HK, Poy F et al (2006) Crystal structure of the FERM domain of focal adhesion kinase. J Biol Chem 281:252–259

- Chan AO (2006) E-cadherin in gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 12:199–203
- Chang C, Werb Z (2001) The many faces of metalloproteases: cell growth, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis. Trends Cell Biol 11:S37–S43
- Chapman HA, Wei Y (2001) Protease crosstalk with integrins: the urokinase receptor paradigm. Thromb Haemost 86:124–129
- Chishti AH, Kim AC, Marfatia SM et al (1998) The FERM domain: a unique module involved in the linkage of cytoplasmic proteins to the membrane. Trends Biochem Sci 23:281–282
- Chung J, Kim TH (2008) Integrin-dependent translational control: Implication in cancer progression. Microsc Res Tech 71:380–386
- Chung LW, Li W, Gleave ME et al (1992) Human prostate cancer model: roles of growth factors and extracellular matrices. J Cell Biochem Suppl 16H:99–105
- Cochran AJ, Ohsie SJ, Binder SW (2008) Pathobiology of the sentinel node. Curr Opin Oncol 20:190–195
- Cordes N (2004) Overexpression of hyperactive integrinlinked kinase leads to increased cellular radiosensitivity. Cancer Res 64:5683–56892
- Cordes N, Meineke V (2003) Cell adhesion-mediated radioresistance (CAM-RR). Extracellular matrix-dependent improvement of cell survival in human tumor and normal cells in vitro. Strahlenther Onkol 179:337–344
- Cordes N, Park CC (2007) beta1 integrin as a molecular therapeutic target. Int J Radiat Biol 83 (11–12):753–760
- Cordes N, van Beuningen D (2003) Cell adhesion to the extracellular matrix protein fibronectin modulates radiation-dependent G2 phase arrest involving integrin-linked kinase (ILK) and glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK-3beta) in vitro. Br J Cancer 88:1470–1479
- Cordes N, Hansmeier B, Beinke C et al (2003) Irradiation differentially affects substratum-dependent survival, adhesion, and invasion of glioblastoma cell lines. Br J Cancer 89:2122–2132
- Cordes N, Seidler J, Durzok R et al (2006) beta1-integrinmediated signaling essentially contributes to cell survival after radiation-induced genotoxic injury. Oncogene 25:1378–1390
- Cordes N, Frick S, Brunner TB et al (2007) Human pancreatic tumor cells are sensitized to ionizing radiation by knockdown of caveolin-1. Oncogene 26:6851–6862
- Couet J, Sargiacomo M, Lisanti MP (1997) Interaction of a receptor tyrosine kinase, EGF-R, with caveolins. Caveolin binding negatively regulates tyrosine and serine/threonine kinase activities. J Biol Chem 272:30429–30438
- Coussens LM, Werb Z (2002) Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420:860–867
- Cowin P, Rowlands TM, Hatsell SJ (2005) Cadherins and catenins in breast cancer. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:499–508
- Crnic I, Strittmatter K, Cavallaro U et al (2004) Loss of neural cell adhesion molecule induces tumor metastasis by upregulating lymphangiogenesis. Cancer Res 64:8630–8638

- Croce CM (2008) Oncogenes and cancer. N Engl J Med 358:502-511
- Czirok A, Zamir EA, Filla MB et al (2006) Extracellular matrix macroassembly dynamics in early vertebrate embryos. Curr Top Dev Biol 73:237–258
- Dalton WS (2003) The tumor microenvironment: focus on myeloma. Cancer Treat Rev 29 Suppl 1:11–19
- Damiano JS (2002) Integrins as novel drug targets for overcoming innate drug resistance. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2:37-43
- Damiano JS, Cress AE, Hazlehurst LA et al (1999) Cell adhesion mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR): role of integrins and resistance to apoptosis in human myeloma cell lines. Blood 93:1658–1667
- Danen EH (2005) Integrins: regulators of tissue function and cancer progression. Curr Pharm Des 11:881-891
- Delcommenne M, Tan C, Gray V et al (1998) Phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase-dependent regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 and protein kinase B/AKT by the integrinlinked kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:11211–1126
- Diaz-Montero CM, McIntyre BW (2003) Acquisition of anoikis resistance in human osteosarcoma cells. Eur J Cancer 39:2395–2402
- Dougherty GW, Chopp T, Qi SM et al (2005) The Ras suppressor Rsu-1 binds to the LIM 5 domain of the adaptor protein PINCH1 and participates in adhesion-related functions. Exp Cell Res 306:168–179
- Durand RE (1994) The influence of microenvironmental factors during cancer therapy. In Vivo 8:691–702
- Duxbury MS, Ito H, Benoit E et al (2005) RNA interference demonstrates a novel role for integrin-linked kinase as a determinant of pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell gemcitabine chemoresistance. Clin Cancer Res 11:3433–3438
- Edwards LA, Thiessen B, Dragowska WH et al (2005) Inhibition of ILK in PTEN-mutant human glioblastomas inhibits PKB/Akt activation, induces apoptosis, and delays tumor growth. Oncogene 24:3596–35605
- Eke I, Sandfort V, Mischkus A et al (2006) Antiproliferative effects of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibition and radiationinduced genotoxic injury are attenuated by adhesion to fibronectin. Radiother Oncol 80:178–184
- Eke I, Sandfort V, Storch K et al (2007) Pharmacological inhibition of EGFR tyrosine kinase affects ILK-mediated cellular radiosensitization in vitro. Int J Radiat Biol 83:793–802
- Erler JT, Bennewith KL, Nicolau M et al (2006) Lysyl oxidase is essential for hypoxia-induced metastasis. Nature 440 (7088):1222–1226
- Estrugo D, Fischer A, Hess F et al (2007) Ligand bound beta1 integrins inhibit procaspase-8 for mediating cell adhesionmediated drug and radiation resistance in human leukemia cells. PLoS ONE 2:e269
- Evans EA, Calderwood DA (2007) Forces and bond dynamics in cell adhesion. Science 316:1148–1153
- Evans RD, Jones J, Taylor C et al (2004) Sequence variation in the I-like domain of the beta1 integrin subunit in human oral squamous cell carcinomas. Cancer Lett 213:189–194

- Fielding CJ, Fielding PE (2003) Relationship between cholesterol trafficking and signaling in rafts and caveolae. Biochim Biophys Acta 1610:219–228
- Fine JD, Griffith RD (1985) A specific defect in glycosylation of epidermal cell membranes. Definition in skin from patients with epidermolysis bullosa simplex. Arch Dermatol 121:1292–1296
- Fogar P, Basso D, Pasquali C et al (1997) Neural cell adhesion molecule (N-CAM) in gastrointestinal neoplasias. Anticancer Res 17:1227–1230
- Franco SJ, Huttenlocher A (2005) Regulating cell migration: calpains make the cut. J Cell Sci 118:3829–3838
- Friedl P, Brocker EB (2000) The biology of cell locomotion within three-dimensional extracellular matrix. Cell Mol Life Sci 57:41–64
- Galbiati F, Volonte D, Engelman JA et al (1998) Targeted downregulation of caveolin-1 is sufficient to drive cell transformation and hyperactivate the p42/44 MAP kinase cascade. EMBO J 17:6633–6648
- Giancotti FG, Ruoslahti E (1999) Integrin signaling. Science 285:1028–1032
- Girault JA, Labesse G, Mornon JP et al (1999) The N-termini of FAK and JAKs contain divergent band 4.1 domains. Trends Biochem Sci 24:54–57
- Gluer S, Wunder MA, Schelp C et al (1998) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule serum levels in normal children. Pediatr Res 44:915–919
- Godsel LM, Hobbs RP, Green KJ (2008) Intermediate filament assembly: dynamics to disease. Trends Cell Biol 18:28–37
- Gomez DE, Alonso DF, Yoshiji H et al (1997) Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological functions. Eur J Cell Biol 74:111–122
- Gospodarowicz D, Greenburg G, Vlodavsky I et al (1979) The identification and localization of fibronectin in cultured corneal endothelial cells: cell surface polarity and physiological implications. Exp Eye Res 29:485–509
- Green KJ, Simpson CL (2007) Desmosomes: new perspectives on a classic. J Invest Dermatol 127:2499–2515
- Greenlee KJ, Werb Z, Kheradmand F (2007) Matrix metalloproteinases in lung: multiple, multifarious, and multifaceted. Physiol Rev 87:69–98
- Guo W, Giancotti FG (2004) Integrin signalling during tumour progression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:816–826
- Haase M, Gmach CC, Eke I et al (2008) Expression of integrin-linked kinase is increased in differentiated cells. J Histochem Cytochem (in press)
- Halazonetis TD, Gorgoulis VG, Bartek J (2008) An oncogeneinduced DNA damage model for cancer development. Science 319:1352–1355
- Hannigan GE, Leung-Hagesteijn C, Fitz-Gibbon L et al (1996) Regulation of cell adhesion and anchorage-dependent growth by a new beta 1-integrin-linked protein kinase. Nature 379:91–96
- Hay ED (1989) Extracellular matrix, cell skeletons, and embryonic development. Am J Med Genet 34:14–29

- Hayashi I, Vuori K, Liddington RC (2002) The focal adhesion targeting (FAT) region of focal adhesion kinase is a four-helix bundle that binds paxillin. Nat Struct Biol 9:101-106
- Hehlgans S, Eke I, Cordes N (2007a) An essential role of integrin-linked kinase in the cellular radiosensitivity of normal fibroblasts during the process of cell adhesion and spreading. Int J Radiat Biol 83:769–779
- Hehlgans S, Haase M, Cordes N (2007b) Signalling via integrins: implications for cell survival and anticancer strategies. Biochim Biophys Acta 1775:163–180
- Hehlgans S, Eke I, Deuse Y et al (2008) Integrin-linked kinase: Dispensable for radiation survival of three-dimensionally cultured fibroblasts. Radiother Oncol 86:329–335
- Hemperly JJ, DeGuglielmo JK, Reid RA (1990) Characterization of cDNA clones defining variant forms of human neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM. J Mol Neurosci 2:71–78
- Hernandez-Barrantes S, Bernardo M, Toth M et al (2002) Regulation of membrane type-matrix metalloproteinases. Semin Cancer Biol 12:131–138
- Hess F, Estrugo D, Fischer A et al (2007) Integrin-linked kinase interacts with caspase-9 and -8 in an adhesion-dependent manner for promoting radiation-induced apoptosis in human leukemia cells. Oncogene 26:1372–1384
- Hirao M, Sato N, Kondo T et al (1996) Regulation mechanism of ERM (ezrin/radixin/moesin) protein/plasma membrane association: possible involvement of phosphatidylinositol turnover and Rho-dependent signaling pathway. J Cell Biol 135:37–51
- Hodkinson PS, Mackinnon AC, Sethi T (2007) Extracellular matrix regulation of drug resistance in small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Biol 83:733–741
- Hood JD, Cheresh DA (2002) Role of integrins in cell invasion and migration. Nat Rev Cancer 2:91–100
- Hynes RO (2002) Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 110:673–687
- Hynes RO (2003) Metastatic potential: generic predisposition of the primary tumor or rare, metastatic variants – or both? Cell 113:821–823
- Hynes RO (2004) The emergence of integrins: a personal and historical perspective. Matrix Biol 23:333–340
- Ino Y, Gotoh M, Sakamoto M et al (2002) Dysadherin, a cancer-associated cell membrane glycoprotein, down-regulates E-cadherin and promotes metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:365–370
- Ishida-Yamamoto A, McGrath JA, Chapman SJ et al (1991) Epidermolysis bullosa simplex (Dowling-Meara type) is a genetic disease characterized by an abnormal keratinfilament network involving keratins K5 and K14. J Invest Dermatol 97:959–968
- Janes SM, Watt FM (2004) Switch from alphavbeta5 to alphavbeta6 integrin expression protects squamous cell carcinomas from anoikis. J Cell Biol 166:419–431

- Jinga DC, Blidaru A, Condrea I et al (2006) MMP-9 and MMP-2 gelatinases and TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 inhibitors in breast cancer: correlations with prognostic factors. J Cell Mol Med 10:499–510
- Johnson LD (1980) The biochemical properties of basement membrane components in health and disease. Clin Biochem 13:204–208
- Kasahara T, Koguchi E, Funakoshi M et al (2002) Antiapoptotic action of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) against ionizing radiation. Antioxid Redox Signal 4:491–499
- Kim DW, Huamani J, Fu A et al (2006) Molecular strategies targeting the host component of cancer to enhance tumor response to radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 64:38–46
- Kiosses WB, Shattil SJ, Pampori N et al (2001) Rac recruits high-affinity integrin alphavbeta3 to lamellipodia in endothelial cell migration. Nat Cell Biol 3:316–320
- Klemke RL, Leng J, Molander R et al (1998) CAS/Crk coupling serves as a "molecular switch" for induction of cell migration. J Cell Biol 140:961–972
- Krause M, Baumann M (2008) Clinical biomarkers of kinase activity: examples from EGFR inhibition trials. Cancer Metastasis Rev 27:387–402
- Kremer CL, Schmelz M, Cress AE (2006) Integrin-dependent amplification of the G2 arrest induced by ionizing radiation. Prostate 66:88–96
- Kucharewicz I, Kowal K, Buczko W et al (2003) The plasmin system in airway remodeling. Thromb Res 112:1–7
- LaBarge MA, Petersen OW, Bissell MJ (2007) Of microenvironments and mammary stem cells. Stem Cell Rev 3:137-146
- Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz AF (1996) Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. Cell 84:359–369
- Lee H, Volonte D, Galbiati F et al (2000) Constitutive and growth factor-regulated phosphorylation of caveolin-1 occurs at the same site (Tyr-14) in vivo: identification of a c-Src/Cav-1/Grb7 signaling cassette. Mol Endocrinol 14:1750–1775
- Li S, Couet J, Lisanti MP (1996) Src tyrosine kinases, alpha subunits, and H-Ras share a common membrane-anchored scaffolding protein, caveolin. Caveolin binding negatively regulates the auto-activation of Src tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 271:29182–29190
- Li ZW, Dalton WS (2006) Tumor microenvironment and drug resistance in hematologic malignancies. Blood Rev 20:333-342
- Lipscomb EA, Mercurio AM (2005) Mobilization and activation of a signaling competent alpha6beta4integrin underlies its contribution to carcinoma progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev 24:413–423
- Liu S, Calderwood DA, Ginsberg MH (2000) Integrin cytoplasmic domain-binding proteins. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 20):3563–3571
- Ljungberg B (2007) Prognostic markers in renal cell carcinoma. Curr Opin Urol 17:303–308
- Lo SH, Chen LB (1994) Focal adhesion as a signal transduction organelle. Cancer Metastasis Rev 13:9–24

- Lodish H, Berk A, Matsudaira P et al (2004) Molecular cell biology, 5th edn. Freeman, New York
- Lopez-Otin C, Matrisian LM (2007) Emerging roles of proteases in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer 7:800-808
- Lynch CC, Matrisian LM (2002) Matrix metalloproteinases in tumor-host cell communication. Differentiation 70:561–573
- Lynch DK, Ellis CA, Edwards PA et al (1999) Integrin-linked kinase regulates phosphorylation of serine 473 of protein kinase B by an indirect mechanism. Oncogene 18:8024–8032
- Martin KH, Slack JK, Boerner SA et al (2002) Integrin connections map: to infinity and beyond. Science 296:1652–1653
- Massova I, Kotra LP, Fridman R et al (1998) Matrix metalloproteinases: structures, evolution, and diversification. FASEB J 12:1075–1095
- McLean GW, Carragher NO, Avizienyte E et al (2005) The role of focal-adhesion kinase in cancer—a new therapeutic opportunity. Nat Rev Cancer 5:505–415
- Mercurio AM, Rabinovitz I (2001) Towards a mechanistic understanding of tumor invasion—lessons from the alpha-6beta 4 integrin. Semin Cancer Biol 11:129–141
- Mese G, Richard G, White TW (2007) Gap junctions: basic structure and function. J Invest Dermatol 127:2516–2524
- Mettouchi A, Klein S, Guo W et al (2001) Integrin-specific activation of Rac controls progression through the G(1) phase of the cell cycle. Mol Cell 8:115–127
- Mileusnic R, Lancashire C, Rose SP (1999) Sequence-specific impairment of memory formation by NCAM antisense oligonucleotides. Learn Mem 6:120–127
- Mitra SK, Hanson DA, Schlaepfer DD (2005) Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:56–68
- Miyahara R, Tanaka F, Nakagawa T et al (2001) Expression of neural cell adhesion molecules (polysialylated form of neural cell adhesion molecule and L1-cell adhesion molecule) on resected small cell lung cancer specimens: in relation to proliferation state. J Surg Oncol 77:49–54
- Mochizuki S, Okada Y (2007) ADAMs in cancer cell proliferation and progression. Cancer Sci 98:621–628
- Morabito A, Piccirillo MC, Monaco K et al (2007) First-line chemotherapy for HER-2 negative metastatic breast cancer patients who received anthracyclines as adjuvant treatment. Oncologist 12:1288–1298
- Moroi M, Jung SM (1998) Integrin-mediated platelet adhesion. Front Biosci 3:d719–d728
- Munshi HG, Stack MS (2006) Reciprocal interactions between adhesion receptor signaling and MMP regulation. Cancer Metastasis Rev 25:45–56
- Nagano O, Saya H (2004) Mechanism and biological significance of CD44 cleavage. Cancer Sci 95:930–935
- Nagase H (1997) Activation mechanisms of matrix metalloproteinases. Biol Chem 378:151–560
- Niessen CM (2007) Tight junctions/adherens junctions: basic structure and function. J Invest Dermatol 127:2525–2532
- Niessen CM, Gottardi CJ (2008) Molecular components of the adherens junction. Biochim Biophys Acta 1778:562–571

- Nimwegen MJ van, van de Water B (2007) Focal adhesion kinase: a potential target in cancer therapy. Biochem Pharmacol 73:597–609
- Nowakowski J, Cronin CN, McRee DE et al (2002) Structures of the cancer-related Aurora-A, FAK, and EphA2 protein kinases from nanovolume crystallography. Structure 10:1659–1667
- Okamoto T, Schlegel A, Scherer PE et al (1998) Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing "preassembled signaling complexes" at the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 273:5419–5422
- Park CC, Zhang H, Pallavicini M et al (2006) Beta1 integrin inhibitory antibody induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells, inhibits growth, and distinguishes malignant from normal phenotype in three dimensional cultures and in vivo. Cancer Res 66:1526–1535
- Parsons JT (2003) Focal adhesion kinase: the first ten years. J Cell Sci 116:1409–1416
- Paszek MJ, Weaver VM (2004) The tension mounts: mechanics meets morphogenesis and malignancy. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 9:325–3242
- Perry SV, Cotterill J (1965) Interaction of actin and myosin. Nature 206:161–163
- Persad S, Attwell S, Gray V et al (2000) Inhibition of integrin-linked kinase (ILK) suppresses activation of protein kinase B/Akt and induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of PTEN-mutant prostate cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:3207–3212
- Petersen C, Eicheler W, Frommel A et al (2003) Proliferation and micromilieu during fractionated irradiation of human FaDu squamous cell carcinoma in nude mice. Int J Radiat Biol 79:469–477
- Petersen OW, Ronnov-Jessen L, Weaver VM et al (1998) Differentiation and cancer in the mammary gland: shedding light on an old dichotomy. Adv Cancer Res 75:135–161

Pettitt J (2005) The cadherin superfamily. WormBook 29:1–9

- Plantefaber LC, Hynes RO (1989) Changes in integrin receptors on oncogenically transformed cells. Cell 56:281–290
- Pollerberg GE, Burridge K, Krebs KE et al (1987) The 180-kD component of the neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM is involved in cell-cell contacts and cytoskeleton-membrane interactions. Cell Tissue Res 250:227-236
- Porter JC, Hogg N (1998) Integrins take partners: cross-talk between integrins and other membrane receptors. Trends Cell Biol 8:390–396
- Qian X, Karpova T, Sheppard AM et al (2004) E-cadherin-mediated adhesion inhibits ligand-dependent activation of diverse receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J 23:1739–1748
- Ra HJ, Parks WC (2007) Control of matrix metalloproteinase catalytic activity. Matrix Biol 26:587–596
- Ramachandran GN, Kartha G (1954) Structure of collagen. Nature 174 (4423):269–270
- Ramsay AG, Marshall JF, Hart IR (2007) Integrin trafficking and its role in cancer metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 26:567–578

- Raucher D, Sheetz MP (2000) Cell spreading and lamellipodial extension rate is regulated by membrane tension. J Cell Biol 148:127–136
- Reynolds AB (2007) p120-catenin: past and present. Biochim Biophys Acta 1773:2-7
- Roesler J, Srivatsan E, Moatamed F et al (1997) Tumor suppressor activity of neural cell adhesion molecule in colon carcinoma. Am J Surg 174:251–257
- Rousset B (1996) [Introduction to the structure and functions of junction communications or gap junctions]. (In French) Ann Endocrinol (Paris) 57:476–480
- Ruch RJ, Trosko JE (2001) Gap-junction communication in chemical carcinogenesis. Drug Metab Rev 33:117–124
- Ruoslahti E (1999) Fibronectin and its integrin receptors in cancer. Adv Cancer Res 76:1–20
- Ruoslahti E (2003) The RGD story: a personal account. Matrix Biol 22:459–465
- Salanueva IJ, Cerezo A, Guadamillas MC et al (2007) Integrin regulation of caveolin function. J Cell Mol Med 11:969-980
- Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM et al (2005) Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307:1098–1101
- Schlaepfer DD, Mitra SK, Ilic D (2004) Control of motile and invasive cell phenotypes by focal adhesion kinase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1692:77–102
- Schmidt CE, Horwitz AF, Lauffenburger DA et al (1993) Integrin-cytoskeletal interactions in migrating fibroblasts are dynamic, asymmetric, and regulated. J Cell Biol 123:977–991
- Schwartz MA (2001) Integrin signaling revisited. Trends Cell Biol 11:466–470
- Sethi T, Rintoul RC, Moore SM et al (1999) Extracellular matrix proteins protect small cell lung cancer cells against apoptosis: a mechanism for small cell lung cancer growth and drug resistance in vivo. Nat Med 5:662–668
- Shiraha H, Glading A, Gupta K et al (1999) IP-10 inhibits epidermal growth factor-induced motility by decreasing epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated calpain activity. J Cell Biol 146:243–254
- Siesser PM, Hanks SK (2006) The signaling and biological implications of FAK overexpression in cancer. Clin Cancer Res 12:3233–3237
- Small JV, Resch GP (2005) The comings and goings of actin: coupling protrusion and retraction in cell motility. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:517–523
- Smith CS, Golubovskaya VM, Peck E et al (2005) Effect of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) downregulation with FAK antisense oligonucleotides and 5-fluorouracil on the viability of melanoma cell lines. Melanoma Res 15:357–362
- Song KS, Scherer PE, Tang Z et al (1996) Expression of caveolin-3 in skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells. Caveolin-3 is a component of the sarcolemma and cofractionates with dystrophin and dystrophin-associated glycoproteins. J Biol Chem 271:15160–15165

- Stanchi F, Bordoy R, Kudlacek O et al (2005) Consequences of loss of PINCH2 expression in mice. J Cell Sci 118:5899–5910
- Sternlicht MD, Werb Z (2001) How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:463–516
- Sugrue SP, Hay ED (1981) Response of basal epithelial cell surface and Cytoskeleton to solubilized extracellular matrix molecules. J Cell Biol 91:45–54
- Tachibana K, Sato T, D'Avirro N et al (1995) Direct association of pp125FAK with paxillin, the focal adhesion-targeting mechanism of pp125FAK. J Exp Med 182:1089–1099
- Tang Z, Scherer PE, Okamoto T et al (1996) Molecular cloning of caveolin-3, a novel member of the caveolin gene family expressed predominantly in muscle. J Biol Chem 271:2255-22561
- Tannock IF (1996) Treatment of cancer with radiation and drugs. J Clin Oncol 14:3156–3174
- Tascilar O, Cakmak GK, Tekin IO et al (2007) Neural cell adhesion molecule-180 expression as a prognostic criterion in colorectal carcinoma: feasible or not? World J Gastroenterol 13:5476–5480
- Trosko JE, Ruch RJ (1998) Cell-cell communication in carcinogenesis. Front Biosci 3:d208-d236
- Tu Y, Li F, Wu C (1998) Nck-2, a novel Src homology2/3-containing adaptor protein that interacts with the LIM-only protein PINCH and components of growth factor receptor kinase-signaling pathways. Mol Biol Cell 9:3367–3382
- Tu Y, Li F, Goicoechea S et al (1999) The LIM-only protein PINCH directly interacts with integrin-linked kinase and is recruited to integrin-rich sites in spreading cells. Mol Cell Biol 19:2425–2434
- Varmus H, Pao W, Politi K et al (2005) Oncogenes come of age. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 70:1–9
- Vaupel P, Mayer A (2005) Hypoxia and anemia: effects on tumor biology and treatment resistance. Transfus Clin Biol 12:5–10
- Vaynberg J, Fukuda T, Chen K et al (2005) Structure of an ultraweak protein-protein complex and its crucial role in regulation of cell morphology and motility. Mol Cell 17:513-523
- Velyvis A, Yang Y, Wu C et al (2001) Solution structure of the focal adhesion adaptor PINCH LIM1 domain and characterization of its interaction with the integrin-linked kinase ankyrin repeat domain. J Biol Chem 276:4932–4939

- Vlodavsky I, Korner G, Ishai-Michaeli R et al (1990) Extracellular matrix-resident growth factors and enzymes: possible involvement in tumor metastasis and angiogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 9:203–226
- Vlodavsky I, Fuks Z, Ishai-Michaeli R et al (1991) Extracellular matrix-resident basic fibroblast growth factor: implication for the control of angiogenesis. J Cell Biochem 45:167–176
- Wang Y, Mehta PP (1995) Facilitation of gap-junctional communication and gap-junction formation in mammalian cells by inhibition of glycosylation. Eur J Cell Biol 67:285–296
- Wary KK, Mariotti A, Zurzolo C et al (1998) A requirement for caveolin-1 and associated kinase Fyn in integrin signaling and anchorage-dependent cell growth. Cell 94:625–634
- Watt FM (2002) Role of integrins in regulating epidermal adhesion, growth and differentiation. Embo J 21:3919–3926
- Weaver VM, Lelievre S, Lakins JN et al (2002) beta4 integrindependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium. Cancer Cell 2:205–216
- Wedgwood A, Younes A (2006) Targeting lymphoma cells and their microenvironment with novel antibodies. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 7(Suppl):S33–S40
- Wei Y, Yang X, Liu Q et al (1999) A role for caveolin and the urokinase receptor in integrin-mediated adhesion and signaling. J Cell Biol 144:1285–1294
- Wild-Bode C, Weller M, Rimner A et al (2001) Sublethal irradiation promotes migration and invasiveness of glioma cells: implications for radiotherapy of human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 61:2744–2750
- Williams TM, Lisanti MP (2005) Caveolin-1 in oncogenic transformation, cancer, and metastasis. Am J Physiol 288:C494–C506
- Yamamoto M, Toya Y, Schwencke C et al (1998) Caveolin is an activator of insulin receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 273:26962–26968
- Yao ES, Zhang H, Chen YY et al (2007) Increased beta1 integrin is associated with decreased survival in invasive breast cancer. Cancer Res 67:659–664
- Zahir N, Weaver VM (2004) Death in the third dimension: apoptosis regulation and tissue architecture. Curr Opin Genet Dev 14:71-80
- Zips D, Eicheler W, Geyer P et al (2005) Enhanced susceptibility of irradiated tumor vessels to vascular endothelial growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition. Cancer Res 65:5374–5379